IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI (PERS)	APPELLANT
VERSUS	CAUSE NO. 2010-CC-00918
REBECCA WORLOW	APPELLEE
RRIEF OF THE APPELLANT	

Katie Lester Trundt
Special Assistant Attorney General
Public Employees' Retirement System
429 Mississippi Street
Jackson, Mississippi 39201-1005
Email: KTrundt@pers.ms.gov
Telephone: (601) 359-9329
Fax. No. (601) 359-2285
Mississippi Bar No

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2010-TS-00918

REBECCA WORLOW

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I.

THE DECISION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM DENYING MS. WORLOW'S CLAIM FOR DISABILITY BENEFITS IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

II.

THE DECISION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM DENYING MS. WORLOW'S CLAIM FOR DISABILITY IS NEITHER ARBITRARY NOR CAPRICIOUS.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

This matter involves an appeal filed by the Appellant, Public Employees' Retirement System (hereinafter "PERS"), wherein PERS seeks review of the Order of the Circuit Court entered on December 10, 2009, reversing the Order of the Board of Trustees of the Public Employees' Retirement System (hereinafter "PERS Board") entered on June 27, 2006. The PERS Board adopted the Proposed Statement of Facts, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendation of the Disability Appeals Committee to deny Ms. Worlow's request for the payment of disability benefits as defined in Miss. Code Ann. §25-11-113 (Supp. 2009). This appeal is authorized and governed pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §25-11-120 (Rev. 2006)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Rebecca Worlow was employed as a teacher with the Aberdeen School District and had 26 years of service credit at the time she terminated employment on May 26, 2005 at the end of the 2004-2005 school year. (Vol. II, R. 28-29: 130, 177-78.) She was eligible for a PERS service retirement at that time. Ms. Worlow was offered a teaching contract for the 2005-2006 school year, but instead of retiring based on her years of service or accepting the offered teaching contract she applied for regular non-duty related disability June 15, 2005. (Vol. II, R. 29.) The primary basis for Ms. Worlow's disability claim was a diagnosis of rheumatoid arthritis (RA). (Vol. II, R. 20.).

Ms. Worlow is receiving special service retirement benefits while pursuing her claim for disability as she is eligible to retire with a service retirement benefit. Ms.

¹ Reference to the Record is indicated by "Vol" for the volume and "R." followed by the appropriate page number.

Worlow's disability application was reviewed by the PERS Medical Board which is made up of three medical doctors, but a decision was deferred pending an independent medical evaluation. (Vol. II, R. 130, 190, 192.) An Independent Medical Examination was conducted by Dr. Laura Gray who found that Ms. Worlow's "skeletal exam reveals **no significant** bone pathology due to her Rheumatoid Arthritis." (Vol. II, R. 149.) Further, Dr. Gray noted that Ms. Worlow's "Rheumatologist does not suggest she is unable to continue her duty as teacher". (Vol. II, R. 149) Following receipt of the medical evaluation the Medical Board again reviewed Ms. Worlow's claim for disability. (Vol. II, R. 130.) Determining that there was insufficient objective medical evidence to support a claim of disability the Medical Board denied Ms. Worlow's claim. (Vol. II, R. 184-185.) Aggrieved of the Medical Board's determination Ms. Worlow filed a Notice of Appeal to the Disability Appeals Committee. (Vol. II, R. 61-62.)

The hearing before the Disability Appeals Committee, made up of two doctors and one attorney/nurse, was conducted by telephone conference call. The Committee heard sworn testimony, received medical and other documentary evidence, and gave due consideration to the applicable law and regulations. The Committee listened to testimony from Ms. Worlow about her duties at work and the physical complaints she claimed were preventing her from performing her job.

Ms. Worlow testified that she taught fourth grade special education and that while she did have the service credit to retire; her teaching certificate was good until 2010. (Vol. II, R. 37; 53.) She further testified that she "was lead teacher for my building, and it really took a lot of foot work, duty, and all that type of thing". (Vol. II, R. 53.) Ms. Worlow had been lead teacher for 5 or 6 years. (Vol. II, R. 53.) It is important to note that

even though her principal stated on the PERS Form 6B that he did not think Ms. Worlow could perform her job, Ms. Worlow was offered a teaching contract for the 2005-2006 school year. (Vol. II, R. 54, 140.) Ms. Worlow's employer also certified that she missed only twenty-two days of work during the twelve months prior to her termination. (Vol. II, R. 140.)

In addition to filing for disability with PERS, Ms. Worlow also applied for disability benefits from the Social Security Administration and was denied. She explained that in her opinion the reason for the social security denial was that she "didn't have enough evidence, enough objective evidence, and so I'm appealing that also". (Vol. II, R. 54.)

Ms. Worlow contended that she suffered from arthritis problems prior to 2005; however, it was not until March 2005 that she was tested for rheumatoid arthritis. (Vol. II, R. 29, 39.) According to Ms. Worlow, her main problems at that time were with her wrist, hands and fingers. (Vol. II, R. 30.) She also testified that she was having difficulty walking and had problems with her knees and hips. (Vol. II, R. 32.) Although she said that her shoulders, neck and elbows presented problems during the last school year that she taught, she was not having difficulty with them at the time of the hearing. (Vol. II, R. 32.)

Ms. Worlow testified that she first went to her regular doctor in March 2005 who agreed to test her for rheumatoid arthritis. (Vol. II, R. 29). The earliest medical records submitted by Ms. Worlow are the April 29, 2005, progress notes of Dr. Arthur Brown which state that Ms. Worlow had a high RA titer, but that her hands did not look swollen and that her feet had no deformity. She was referred to a rheumatologist. (Vol. II, R.

156). On May 3, 2005, she returned to Dr. Brown who stated under the "Objective" section of the notes that Ms. Worlow had no synovial thickening and no joint problems. On May 20, 2005, Dr. Brown did note some "synovial thickening in the right wrist, elbow, and ankle" and prescribed Methotrexate and Naprosyn, but by June 14, 2005 he only noted tenderness in her wrist. (Vol. II, R. 154-55).

Ms. Worlow was then seen by by Dr. Asa, a rheumatologist. Dr. Asa's records show that in August 2005, x-rays of Ms. Worlow's hand and feet were normal, her RA titer was normal, but that her C-reactive protein was elevated. (Vol. II, R. 166-75). He continued the Methotrexate but later prescribed Humira. Ms. Worlow said that she had a serious reaction to the Humira. (Vol. II, R. 33-34.) The record indicates that many of Ms. Worlow's problems were the result of her adverse reaction to the Humira. As a result of the Humira she made numerous visits to the emergency room and other doctors. Ms. Worlow testified that as a result of taking the Humeria she suffered from severe headaches, swelling of her glands, diarrhea, fever, chills, and a suppressed immune system resulting in infections. (Vol. II., R. 34-36) During the reaction to the Humira, Ms. Worlow took several steroids that helped to lessen her body's reaction to the Humira. (Vol. II, R. 41.) Ms. Worlow secured the services of Dr. Atiq after her reaction to the Humira which was prescribed by Dr. Asa. (Vol. II, R. 35, 43.)

Ms. Worlow was seeing Dr. Atiq at the time of the hearing and she stated that her symptoms were better. (Vol. II, R. 40.) She was referred to Dr. Atiq by an emergency room physician, Dr. Hayes, who is now her general doctor. (Vol. II, R. 43, 45.) She was also referred to a neurologist to determine whether she suffered from Multiple Sclerosis.

It was determined by the neurologist that Ms. Worlow does not have Multiple Sclerosis. (Vol. II, R. 45.)

Ms. Worlow testified that she takes Methotrexate and muscle relaxers, however, it was noted by the Hearing Officer that those medications would not help with her bones. (Vol. II, R. 47.)

During questioning Dr. Blackston asked the following:

Q. And she gives a very thorough report here and she kind of describes what had been going on with you with your shot and Humera [sic] and the Methotrexate, but one of the things that she said is that when she saw you that you really didn't have any, what we call, active synovitis, which, you know, your joints were [sic] all inflamed.

A. Right.

- Q. She did say that you had what's called crepitus, which means some noise or some grinding sounds in you jaws and your knees, and that she was going to check some labs and look at your x-rays and all that, and she says you were going to come back in about eight weeks, which would have been about right with that April visit. But I, you know, it's kind of an inconsistent, what she's saying there pretty much sounds like you're doing pretty well with your arthritis, and then we've got, you know, Dr. Hayes pretty much about the same time saying you're really kind of in bad shape. So I just kind of wonder what you feel about how we ought to address that?
- A. Okay, well, the best I can explain to you is that when I saw Dr. Atiq, I had had all the steroids. I think that I had a lot of inflammation and it was going down, and that's what she said, and that really, for one thing, I suppose I have very dense bones. I don't know if that helps out any. (Vol. II, R. 48-49)

In addition to the testimony offered at the hearing, the committee also considered the medical records submitted by Ms. Worlow's from her various physicians. The Disability Appeals Committee offered the following summary of the medical evidence:

Dr. Brown was Ms. Worlow's family doctor but we only have his records beginning with April 29, 2005, at which time Ms. Worlow was complaining of pain in her hands and feet. **Dr. Brown found no swelling or deformity and his diagnosis was arthralgia and depression**. She was placed on Mobic and Lexapro. A

rheumatoid titer was high at that time. In May of 2005, Ms. Worlow's joint complaints were rapidly escalating and **Dr. Brown found a couple of elevated blood tests suggesting rheumatoid arthritis**. Ms. Worlow was placed on Naprosyn and Methotrexate. She was referred to a rheumatologist.

Dr. Asa is Ms. Worlow's Rheumatologist and we have his records. Beginning with a July 26, 2005, evaluation, Ms. Worlow was referred for evaluation of her rheumatoid arthritis. Ms. Worlow reported her problems developed in 1993, and it is noted that she has joint pain and early morning stiffness. She has taken steroids in the past but she reported that the six months prior to this visit, her problems had become very bad. On physical exam, some swelling was noted in her finger joints and other joints showed some decrease in the range of motion. Ms. Worlow reported she had pain and tenderness in many of her joints. Dr. Asa concurred that she probably had RA and many tests were performed. Ms. Worlow's rheumatoid titer was normal but her C-reactive protein was elevated. X-rays of her hands and feet were **normal**. Even though he had just seen Ms. Worlow one time, Dr. As a completed a form 7. Statement of Examining Physician form and wrote that while Ms. Worlow was not at maximum medical improvement (MMI), she was unable to stand for longer than 30 minutes or use her hands and wrists for more than 30 minutes continuously.

Dr. Brown completed a form 7, Statement of Examining Physician form but it contains no date. He wrote that because of her stiff joints and limited mobility, her writing and computer work are affected and she is unable to stand for very long.

Ms. Worlow was evaluated by Dr. Gray on November 28, 2005, and she wrote that after reviewing all records performing her own physical exam and history, she opined that Ms. Worlow's x-rays revealed no significant pathology and that her rheumatologist had not limited her activity or said that she was unable to work.

Ms. Worlow developed some problems swallowing and was seen in the emergency room on February 1, 2006. It was thought she may have had a reaction to one of her medications. She was complaining of chills and joint aches all over her body. It appears she was discharged the next day. Another emergency room visit occurred on February 9, 2006, this time for a severe headache that had been going on for a week. She was discharged with instructions to manage the headaches at home.

On February 14, 2006, Ms. Worlow was seen by Dr. Hayes for evaluation of her joint pain and stiffness. She was being followed for the drug reaction and Dr. Hayes also wrote that she was being evaluated for the possibility of Multiple Sclerosis. On February 19, 2006, there was a third trip to the emergency room for fever, chills and dizziness. She also complained of trouble swallowing. She had tests run under the direction of Dr. Meeks on February 23, 2006. (Vol. II, R. 18-20.)

Based on Ms. Worlow's testimony, as well as, the summary of the medical documentation offered by Ms. Worlow in support of her claim and the Disability Appeals Committee's analysis of the medical records of all the treating physicians, the Committee reached the conclusion that Ms. Worlow is not entitled to disability benefits under the governing statute. (Vol. II, R. 21.) This recommendation was then submitted and adopted as the decision of the Board of Trustees on June 27, 2006.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Order of the PERS Board of Trustees is supported by substantial evidence and should not have been reversed by the Circuit Court. In order to qualify for a disability benefit under PERS law, Ms. Worlow would have to prove not only that she has been diagnosed with certain ailments but that the conditions upon which she bases her claim are disabling and that the disability was the direct cause of her withdrawal from state service. The Record clearly supports the Order of the PERS Board of Trustees, which took into consideration all of the medical evidence offered by Ms. Worlow. There is substantial evidence to show that Ms. Worlow's ailments are not permanently disabling and therefore, she is not entitled to a disability benefit from the State of Mississippi.

Ms. Worlow was provided a fair and impartial hearing. The Order of the PERS Board of Trustees is premised on substantial evidence and is neither arbitrary nor capricious, was entered within the Board's authority, and was not rendered in violation of any constitutional or statutory right of the Appellant. The Recommendation of the Disability Appeals Committee, adopted by the PERS Board in its Order, should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

INTRODUCTION

PERS was established in 1953 to provide retirement and other benefits to covered employees of the state, its political subdivisions and instrumentalities. Chapter 299, Mississippi Laws of 1952.

In addition to service retirement benefits, disability benefits are provided for members who meet the statutory requirements for such benefits. There are two categories of disability benefits available to PERS members who became a member before July 1, 2007: (1) a regular disability benefit payable to members who have at least four (4) years of creditable service and who become disabled for any reason, and (2) a hurt-on-the-job disability benefit, payable to members regardless of the number of years of creditable service, where the member becomes disabled due to an injury occurring in the line of duty. Miss. Code Ann. §§25-11-113 and 25-11-114 (Supp. 2009).

Applications for disability benefits are reviewed by the PERS Medical Board. The PERS Medical Board is composed of physicians appointed by the PERS Board of Trustees. Miss. Code Ann. §25-11-119(7) (Supp. 2009). The Medical Board reviews all

medical documentation, arranges independent medical examinations, and considers all medical evidence prior to making a determination regarding an application for disability. Any person aggrieved by a determination of the PERS Medical Board may request a hearing before the Disability Appeals Committee of the PERS Board of Trustees, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §25-11-120 (Rev. 2006).

Disability, as defined under PERS law, Miss. Code Ann. §25-11-113, states in pertinent part:

... the inability to perform the usual duties of employment or the incapacity to perform such lesser duties, if any, as the employer, in its discretion, may assign without material reduction in compensation or the incapacity to perform the duties of any employment covered by the Public Employees' Retirement System (Section 25-11-101 et seq.) that is actually offered and is within the same general territorial work area, without material reduction in compensation.

§25-11-113 further provides that:

... in no event shall the disability retirement allowance commence before the termination of the state service, provided that the medical board, after a medical examination, shall certify that the member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that the member should be retired . . .

The question before the PERS Medical Board, the Disability Appeals Committee and the PERS Board of Trustees was whether Ms. Worlow's claim meets the requirements for the receipt of a disability benefit. The PERS Board of Trustees adopted the recommendation of the Disability Appeals Committee to deny disability benefits. The Order of the Board was improperly reversed by the Circuit Court on the basis that the

denial of disability benefits was not supported by substantial evidence and was arbitrary and capricious.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 5.03 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice limits review by this Court to a determination of whether the Board of Trustees' decision was: (1) supported by substantial evidence; or (2) was arbitrary or capricious; or (3) was beyond the authority of the Board to make; or (4) violated a statutory or constitutional right of Ms. Worlow. *Laughlin v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 11 So.3d 154, 158 (Miss. App. 2009); *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dozier*, 995 So.2d 136, 138 (Miss. App. 2008).

A reviewing Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the agency rendering the decision and may not reweigh the facts. Brakefield v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 940 So.2d at 948; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So.2d at 1285; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps, 898 So.2d at 673; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Smith, 880 So.2d at 350; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So.2d at 891; United Cement Company v. Safe Air for the Environment, 558 So.2d 840, 842 (Miss. 1990); Melody Manor Convalescent Center v. Mississippi State Department of Health, 546 So.2d 972, 974 (Miss. 1989) Also see: Public Employees' Retirement System v. Burt, 919 So.2d 1150, 1156 (Miss. App. 2005). In Mississippi State Tax Commission v. Mississippi-Alabama State Fair, 222 So 2d 664, 665 (Miss. 1969), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated:

Our Constitution does not permit the judiciary of this state to retry de novo matters on appeal from

administrative agencies and are not permitted to make administrative decisions and perform the functions of an administrative agency. Administrative agencies must perform the functions required of them by law. When an administrative agency has performed its function, and has made the determination and entered the order required of it, the parties may then appeal to the judicial tribunal designated to hear the appeal. The appeal is a limited one, however, since the courts cannot enter the field of the administrative agency. [Emphasis added]

In *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Cobb*, 839 So.2d 605, 609 (Miss. App. 2003) the Mississippi Court of Appeals noted: "[I]n administrative matters, the agency, not the reviewing court, sits as finder of fact." In this case there are medical tests and evaluations that Ms. Worlow has undergone. Several different physicians have reviewed the reports in the file with the medical training to read and assess those documents. The Court in *Cobb* went on to state: "That fact finding duty includes assessing the credibility of witnesses and determining the proper weight to give to a particular witness's testimony." On review by an appellate court it:

is obligated to afford such determinations of credibility in the fact-finding process substantial deference when reviewing an administrative determination on appeal and the court exceeds its authority when it proceeds to reevaluate the evidence and makes its own determination of the trustworthiness of some particular testimony. [Emphasis added] 839 So. 2d 609.

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