IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2010-CC-00918

8

REBECCA WORLOW

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record for the Appellee certifies that the following person(s) listed below have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

The Board of Trustees of the Public Employees' Retirement System

Honorable Katie Lester Trundt, Counsel for Appellant

Honorable Jim Hood, Attorney General

Honorable Winston Kidd, Hinds County Circuit Court Judge

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi, First Judicial District, correctly found that there was insufficient evidence in the record of this case to support PERS' denial of disability benefits to the Appellant, Rebecca Worlow. Upon review of the record in this cause, including Mrs. Worlow's medical records, the PERS Form 7s (Statements of Examining Physicians), the Statement of the Employer, and the sworn testimony given by Mrs. Worlow from the transcript from the hearing before the Disability Appeals Committee, the Circuit Court found that PERS presented no reasonable evidence that Mrs. Worlow was not disabled (emphasis added). (Vol. I, R. 9). Considering the lack of evidence presented by PERS, and faced with the overwhelming abundance of credible, objective and reliable medical evidence presented by Mrs. Worlow to the Public Employees' Retirement System to support her claim of permanent disability pursuant to Section 25-11-113 of the Mississippi Code, 1972, the Circuit Court correctly and justifiably reversed the decision of PERS and granted Mrs. Worlow disability retirement benefits.

Like the reviewing Court below, this Court must examine the record before it: The Disability Appeals Committee's Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, which were ultimately adopted by the PERS' Board of Trustees, provides us with its reasoning – or lack thereof – for its denial of benefits. A review of the record reveals that these "reasons" do not

equate to substantial evidence, and thus, PERS' decision to deny benefits was without merit. According to the Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, PERS denied Mrs. Worlow's application for disability benefits for three purported reasons: First, PERS' DAC stated that Mrs. Worlow's "diagnosis of arthritis is not definite according to the record because the lab work that Dr. Asa had run returned normal." (Vol. II, R. 20). Second, the DAC reasoned that her x-ray reports were normal and did not reflect "evidence of the disease that would result in the pain of which Ms. Worlow complained." (Vol. II, R. 20-21). The purported third and final reason the DAC cites in its Findings was that Mrs. Worlow's "employer was happy with her because she was offered a contract for the following year." (Vol. II, R.21).

As the Circuit Court readily recognized, the record in this case contains an abundance of credible, objective and reliable medical evidence that substantiated Mrs. Worlow's claim of a disabling disease, Rheumatoid Arthritis: Every one of the five physicians who has evaluated Mrs. Worlow, including PERS' own selected physician, Dr. Laura Gray, concluded that Mrs. Worlow suffers from Rheumatoid Arthritis. Second, all of the labs tests designed to determine the presence of rheumatoid arthritis in a patient administered by Mrs. Worlow's treating physicians, Dr. Brown and Dr. Asa, resulted in a definitive diagnosis of Rheumatoid Arthritis. That x-rays of bones taken within a few months of the onset of active rheumatoid arthritis do not reflect calcifications or other deposits is insignficant: evidence of such damage may take years before it shows up on x-rays. One "normal" x-ray of hands and feet, compared with positive results of multiple blood pathogen tests, is not a "substantial" basis to support a denial for disability benefits under applicable law. Third, Mrs. Worlow's disabling physical condition was objectively evidenced as reported in the records of her treating physicians who noted their findings on physical examination. These findings substantiate the increase in complaints of pain from Mrs. Worlow due to the progressive nature of the painful RA flare.

Fourth, Mrs. Worlow has been prescribed high doses of medications which are designed to treat Rheumatoid Arthritis and severe joint inflammation, including Methotrexate, Humira, and Naprosyn, as well as pain medications such as Lortab. To suggest that there has been no definitive diagnosis of Rheumatoid Arthritis in this case is absurd, arbitrary and capricious.

Mrs. Worlow's complaints of progressive joint pain, swelling and stiffness have been consistent in all of the medical histories she has given to all of her treating physicians, including the PERS physician. Her testimony at the telephonic hearing before the PERS' Disability Appeals Committee was also consistent with these histories. Mrs. Worlow's complaints of pain, though subjective, are consistent, credible and worthy of significant weight.

Finally, the Record in this case clearly substantiates Mrs. Worlow's inability to perform the physical requirements of her job. The sworn testimony of Mrs. Worlow, the statement of her supervisor, Mr. Chester Leigh found in the PERS Form 6B Employer's Certification of Job Requirements and the PERS Form 7 Statements of Examining Physicians, Drs. Brown, Asa, and Hayes, all indicate that Mrs. Worlow cannot perform her job as a teacher of 4th grade special education due to her severe Rheumatoid Arthritis. The Record in this case – including the report of PERS' own physician Dr. Laura Gray – reflects no dispute that Mrs. Worlow is unable to perform the physical requirements of her job as lead teacher for 4th grade special education classes at Aberdeen School District.

The Circuit Court examined PERS' denial of benefits in the context of the complete record in this case, and rightly found that PERS' decision to deny benefits was not supported by substantial evidence -- let alone any reasonable evidence -- and was an arbitrary and capricious act warranting reversal. The Order and Opinion of the Circuit Court of Hinds County, First Judicial District, was correct and should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review.

On appeal, this Court employs the same standard of review of an administrative agency's decision as the Circuit Court below. *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dozier*, 995 So.2d 136, 138 ¶ 7 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). The Circuit Court's review of the administrative agency's decision is limited to determining if the decision was supported by substantial evidence, was arbitrary and capricious, was beyond the power of the administrative agency to make, or violated a statutory or constitutional right of the charging party. *Mississippi State Bd. of Examiners v. Anderson*, 757 So.2d 1079, 1084 ¶ 14 (Miss.2000) (citing *Mississippi State Bd. of Nursing v. Wilson*, 624 So.2d 485, 489 (Miss.1993)). This limited standard of review is in accordance with Rule 5.03 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules, which states that on appeal to the Circuit Court, the Circuit Court must determine whether any one or more of these four grounds exists before overturning the decision of the Public Employees' Retirement System. See, *Davis v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 750 So.2d 1225, 1230 ¶¶ 12, 13. (Miss.1999).

Other important principles of law that apply to an appeal of a decision of the PERS administrative agency can be summarized succinctly by stating that there is a rebuttable presumption in favor of a decision of the Public Employees' Retirement System. Also, the reviewing court cannot substitute its judgment for that of the administrative agency's judgment and may not re-weigh the facts presented. See, *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon*, 797 So.2d 888, 891,¶ 9 (Miss.2001); *Davis v. Public Employees' Retirement_System*, 750 So.2d at 1230, ¶ 12; *Brinston v. Public Employees' Retirement Sys.*, 706 So.2d 258, 259, ¶ 6

(Miss. App. 1998); Sprouse v. Mississippi Employment Sec. Comm'n, 639 So.2d 901 (Miss.1994).

However, when reviewing the proceedings of the lower authority to determine whether its decision was based upon substantial evidence, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that,

[T]he Circuit Court must look at the **full record** before it... While the circuit court performs limited appellate review, it is not relegated to wearing blinders. The court must determine if the evidence is **legally adequate** to support the lower body's factual findings. *Mississippi State Bd. of Examiners v. Anderson*, 757 So.2d at 1084, ¶ 15 (emphasis added).

As this Court has reminded us, "[t]he supreme court has previously held that PERS's opinion is not conclusive, and **PERS cannot choose to ignore uncontroverted evidence** provided by the treating physicians." *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dozier*, 995 So.2d at 141-42 ¶ 19 (emphasis added).

"Substantial evidence means something more than a 'mere scintilla' or suspicion." Public Employees' Retirement System v. Marquez, 774 So.2d 421, 425 ¶ 13 (Miss. 2000) (citing Mississippi Real Estate Comm'n v. Anding, 732 So.2d 192, 196, ¶ 13 (Miss. 1999)). Substantial evidence has further been defined by the Supreme Court of Mississippi as that which "reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." Id. (citing Delta CMI v. Speck, 586 So.2d 768 (Miss. 1991)).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has also stated that administrative agencies are required to "say at least minimally why they do what they do so someone can see whether it be arbitrary and capricious," and "whether substantial evidence undergirds its actions." *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Bishop*, 942 So.2d 259, 265 ¶ 26 (citing *McGowan v. Miss. State Oil & Gas Bd.*, 604 So.2d 312, 322 (Miss.1992) and *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Marquez*, 774 So.2d 421, 429 ¶ 30 (Miss.2000)).

Where a review of the record and proceedings of the lower authority indicates a decision unsupported by adequate credible evidence, such a decision should be regarded as "contrary to the law and subject to modification or reversal." *Davis v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 750 So.2d at 1230, ¶ 13 (citing *Chandler v. City of Jackson Civil Service Comm'n*, 687 So.2d 142, 144 (Miss.1990)).

The terms "arbitrary" and "capricious" have been defined by the Mississippi Supreme Court as follows: "An act is arbitrary when it is not done according to reason or judgment, but depending on the will alone. 'Capricious' was defined as any act done without reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or a disregard for the surrounding facts and settled controlling principals." *Burks v. Amite County School District*, 708 So.2d 1366, 1370 ¶ 14 (Miss.1998) (citing *McGowan v. Mississippi State Oil & Gas Bd.*, 604 So.2d 312, 322 (Miss.1992)). "An agency decision that is not based on substantial evidence is necessarily arbitrary and capricious." *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Kellum*, 878 So.2d 1044, 1047 ¶ 7 (Miss.Ct.App.2004) (citing *Marquez*, 774 So.2d at 430, ¶ 35)).

THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT, CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE FINDING OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD OF TRUSTEES THAT REBECCA WORLOW WAS NOT PERMANENTLY DISABLED AS DEFINED BY SECTION 25-11-113 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE, 1972, WAS IN ERROR, WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE, AND WAS THEREFORE, ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS.

Section 25-11-113 of the Mississippi Code, 1972 (as amended and annotated) provides in relevant part as follows:

DISABILITY RETIREMENT.

Upon the application of a member or his employer, any active member in state service who has at least four (4) years of membership service credit may be retired by the board of trustees on the first month following the date of filing such application on a disability retirement allowance, but in no event shall the disability retirement allowance commence before termination of state service, provided that the medical board, after a medical examination, shall certify that the

member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that the member should be retired; however the board of trustees may accept a disability medical determination from the Social Security Administration in lieu of a certification from the medical board. For the purposes of disability determination, the medical board shall apply the following definition of disability: the inability to perform the usual duties of employment, or the incapacity to perform such lesser duties, if any, as the employer, in its discretion, may assign without material reduction in compensation, . . . M.C.A. §25-11-113 (a).

In its Proposed Statement of Facts, Conclusions of Law and Recommendations, the PERS' Disability Appeals Committee states that "[t]he statute requires that any disability must be supported by the medical evidence and we do not have persuasive evidence that Ms. Worlow is permanently and totally disabled." As set forth in the Proposed Statement of Facts, Conclusions of Law and Recommendations adopted by the PERS' Board of Trustees on June 27, 2006, the Committee denied Mrs. Worlow's application for disability benefits for three purported reasons: First, the Committee stated that Mrs. Worlow's "diagnosis of arthritis is not definite according to the record because the lab work that Dr. Asa had run returned normal." (Vol. II, R. 20). Second, the Committee reasoned that her x-ray reports were normal and did not reflect "evidence of the disease that would result in the pain of which Ms. Worlow complained." (Vol. II, R. 20-21). The purported third and final reason that the Committee cites in its Findings is that Mrs. Worlow's "employer was happy with her because she was offered a contract for the following year." (Vol. II, R. 21).

As demonstrated by the record citations and arguments below, the above-cited reasons and the ultimate conclusion reached by PERS to deny Mrs. Worlow's benefits are insufficient, illegitimate and collectively do not amount to even a "scintilla." Accordingly, because the decision is not supported by substantial evidence, the decision is arbitrary and capricious and must be reversed.

PERS, in effect, says that it does not have persuasive medical evidence that Mrs. Worlow suffers from disabling Rheumatoid Arthritis despite the fact that no less than five licensed physicians, including a physician selected by PERS, have diagnosed Mrs. Worlow as suffering from Rheumatoid Arthritis. The Mississippi Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals have held that medical diagnoses by licensed physicians constitute objective, not subjective, evidence of disability. Stevison v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 966 So.2d 874, 880 ¶ 22 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing Marquez, 774 So.2d at 430 ¶ 22). Mrs. Worlow's treating physicians, Drs. Brown, Asa, Hayes, and Atiq all diagnosed Mrs. Worlow with Rheumatoid Arthritis, and Dr. Gray, PERS' IME physician, also determined that Mrs. Worlow suffered from Rheumatoid Arthritis. The following evidence in the Record supports this:

- 1. Dr. Arthur Brown's PERS Form 7 and his attached medical records. See Vol. II, R. 152-156.
- 2. Dr. Kevin Asa's PERS Form 7 and his attached medical records, including diagnostic test results. See Vol. II, R. 159-175; Vol. II, R. 77-83.
- 3. Dr. Kevin Hayes Medical Source Statement (see Vol. II, R. 70-72) and various medical records. See Vol. II, R. 73; 96-97; 124, 125-127.
 - 4. Dr. Sheila Atiq, February 14, 2006 office note. See Vol. II, R. 68-69.
- 5. Dr. Laura Gray, the doctor that PERS sent Mrs. Worlow to for an independent medical evaluation. See Vol. II, R. 147-149. Dr. Gray also assessed Mrs. Worlow as suffering from hyperthyroidism, chronic plantar fasciitus, multi-joint pain and depression.

Of these five licensed physicians, the record indicates that three of them -- Drs. Brown, Asa and Hayes -- saw Mrs. Worlow on more than one occasion. In fact, Mrs. Worlow had seen her current rheumatologist, Dr. Sheila Atiq, less than a month before the hearing as reflected in the transcript. However, Mrs. Worlow didn't have that report or the result at the hearing. One of

the Committee members, Dr. Blackston, asked during the hearing if the Committee had that report available. (Vol. II, R. 47). The Hearing Officer, Ms. Jones, indicated that PERS would let her know if they needed the additional report, but the record reflects no indication that any such request occurred. (Vol. II, R. 56-57). In its Appellant's Brief submitted to this Court, PERS states that Mrs. Worlow only saw Dr. Asa on one occasion. This is simply wrong: Mrs. Worlow had seen this Rheumatologist on multiple occasions during mid-2005 and early 2006: July 26, 2005 (Vol. II, R. 160), August 23, 2005, September 20, 2005, November 21, 2005, and January 17, 2006 (Vol. II, R. 80). Apparently, PERS took no interest in the reviewing the additional 60 pages of medical records submitted by Mrs. Worlow prior to her hearing before the Disability Appeals Committee on May 19, 2006. (Vol. II, R. 65-129).

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